RECEIVED

MAR 23 2020

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM DORCHESTER COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Deadra L. Jefferson, First Judicial Circuit
The Honorable Edgar W. Dickson, First Judicial Circuit
Honorable Maite Murphy, First Judicial Circuit

Appellate Case No. 2018-002185

Molly M. Morphew

Appellant

v.

Stephen Dudek, Doreen Cross, Carolina One,
Carolina One, Susan Nicholson, Woody Law
Firm, Carrie Boyer, First Federal, Allison
Williams, David A. Collins, Michael Scarafile

Respondents

APPELLANT'S INITIAL BRIEF

Molly M. Morphew, pro se
45 Lullwater Dr. #1416
Richmond Hill, GA 31324
(843) 514-7299

FACTS AND PROCEDURAL HISTORY

On October 24, 2012 Respondents Stephen Dudek and Doreen Cross (“Dudeks”) entered into a time is of the essence real estate contract for 788 E. Butternut Rd., located in Summerville, South Carolina (“said property”) (Dudek sales contract, Oct. 24, 2012; herein “**DSC3**”). After the Dudeks failed to schedule a closing or provide proof of financing, they received a termination notice from the sellers Ferro (Term. Notice, Dec. 16, 2012 herein “**TN5**”). The Sellers Ferro entered into a backup contract with Appellant Molly Morphew. After finding out the Ferros had another buyer that was ready to close, the Dudeks filed a lis pendens to prevent that sale (Email—Att. Qualey January 15, 2013 (herein “**EQ8**”)) (Lis Pendens, Jan. 11, 2012 (herein “**LP26**”). On January 15, 2012 they filed a complaint to compel Specific Performance (Complaint, Specific Performance, Dudeks v. Ferros, Jan. 15, 2013 Civil Case No. 2013-CP-180074, herein “**COMP42**”)

On January 31, 2013 Appellant filed a complaint to compel Specific Performance (Complaint, Specific Performance, Morphew v. Dudeks, Ferros January 31, 2013 Case No. 2013-CP-18-000183 herein “**COMP29**”). Discovery ensued, including depositions, subpoenas, phone calls and/or meetings with Respondent(s).

On June 11-12, 2014 a trial without jury tried by the Master in Equity, the Honorable James Chellis, took place. The Respondent(s) presented evidence, including testimony, that the Dudeks had performed their sales contract or their conditions precedent, acted in good faith and fair dealings, secured financing and were at all times material ready, able and willing or tender payment or close escrow per their sales contract or specific performance. Further, all represented it was the sellers, Defendants Ferro, who caused their breach or prevented their ability to close.

In November 2014, the Master issued an Order awarding Specific Performance to the Dudeks first, and Morphew second if they failed to close. Only Appellant and Defendants Ferro appealed, both pro se.

During said appeal, Appellant discovered the evidence the Respondent(s) presented at trial was perjured, misrepresented, or falsified, and that they withheld critically material facts and documents from the opposing parties and lower court. It was also revealed the Defendants Ferro had also discovered

validated evidence after trial and presented it to the Master in their closing statements via Petition to the court before he made his decision. The Master stated he was only taking closing statements from the attorneys and was not going to consider the new evidence presented by the Ferros, pro se (**Ferro Petition**, September 9, 2014 herein “**FP6**”); (Email Ferro, Sept. 10, 2014 herein “**EF44**”). The newly discovered evidence showed the Dudeks had intentionally let their sales contract expire before making initial application for mortgage credit, therefore rendering same contract invalid and non-negotiable. Such critical breach was not remedied, therefore they were denied or refused financing to purchase said property (Denial Letter(s), Jan. 31, 2013 herein “**DL30**”). Appellant raised these issues within its appeal, but was not addressed by this Court. Instead, the lower court’s ruling was affirmed based on the Standard of Review “The lower court was in a better position...”(**FP6**); (**EF44**); (Opinion No. 2017-UP- 019, Filed Jan. 11, 2017 App. Case No. 2014-002633 herein “**OPN27**”).

Pending appeal, Appellant filed this current action for fraud and fraud on the court on Aug. 24, 2016. Many motions to dismiss, for reconsideration, default, and summary judgment were ruled on. Appellant filed its notice of appeal on December 12, 2018, appealing 10 Orders. Respondents did not appeal. The 10 orders are 100 pages together, containing 42 rulings and encompassing several summary judgment(s), motion(s) to dismiss, and default. There are 10 Respondents, including civilians, lawyers, paralegals, sales agents, a real estate agency, a federally insured bank, and a loan officer. Because of number of orders, pages and respondents, and due to the extraordinary case addressing 1) fraud and fraud on the court, and 2) in question a ruling based on said Fraud and apparently contrary to law and equity or Void, and 3) effects public policy, Appellant had asked this court twice for permission to exceed the page limit pursuant App. Court Rule 208(b)(5) to allow her fair opportunity to defend fully (Motion- Ex. Pg. Lmt. June 20, 2019 herein “**MEPL2**”). Both Motions were denied.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

1. A court may set aside an entry of default for good cause shown. Rule 55(c), SCRCP. Whether good cause is established is within the sound discretion of the court. *Wham v. Shearson Lehman Brothers*,

Inc., 298 S.C. 462, 381 S.E.2d 499 (Ct.App.1989). The power to set aside a default is exercised within the sound discretion of the trial court whose decision will not be disturbed on appeal absent a clear showing of an abuse of that discretion. *Frank Ulmer Lumber Co. v. Patterson*, 272 S.C. 208, 250 S.E.2d 121 (1978); *Estate of Weeks*, 329 S.C. 251, 495 S.E.2d 454 (Ct.App.1997). *Harbor Island Owners' Ass'n v. Preferred Island Prop., Inc.*, 369 S.C. 540, 544, 633 S.E.2d 497, 499 (2006). In reviewing the court's exercise of discretion, the issue before the appellate court is not whether it believes good cause existed to set aside the default, "but rather, whether the [trial judge's] determination is supportable by the evidence and not controlled by an error of law." *Pilgrim v. Miller*, 350 S.C. 637, 567 S.E.2d 527 (2002).

2. This Court will not disturb a discretionary ruling on appeal unless it appears the ruling is without evidentiary support or controlled by some error of law. *Stanton v. Town of Pawley's Island, S.C.*, 420 S.E.2d 502 (1992). An abuse of discretion occurs where the trial judge was controlled by an error of law or where his order is based on factual conclusions that are without evidentiary support. *Tri-County Ice and Fuel Co. v. Palmetto Ice Co.*, 303 S.C. 237, 242, 399 S.E.2d 779, 782 (1990)
3. When reviewing the grant of summary judgment, the appellate court applies the same standard applied by the trial court pursuant to Rule 56(c), SCRPC. *Peterson v. West Am. Ins. Co.*, 336 S.C. 89, 94, 518 S.E.2d 608, 610 (Ct.App. 1999). Since it is a drastic remedy, summary judgment "should be cautiously invoked so that no person will be improperly deprived of a trial of the disputed factual issues." *Watson v. Southern Ry. Co.*, 420 F. Supp. 483, 486 (D.S.C. 1975); *see also Holloman v. McAllister*, 289 S.C. 183, 186, 345 S.E. (2d) 728, 729 (1986) ("an extreme remedy to be cautiously invoked"). This means, among other things, that summary judgment must not be granted until the opposing party has had a full and fair opportunity to complete discovery. 10A Wright & Miller, *Federal Practice and Procedure* § 2741, p. 543 (1983); 6 *Moore's Federal Practice* ¶ 56.02[6], p. 56-39 (2d ed. 1990); *see, e.g., First Chicago Int'l v. United Exchange Co.*, 836 F. (2d) 1375 (D.C. Cir.1988); *Commercial Bank of Kendall v. Heiman*, 322 So. (2d) 564 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 1975); *cf. Rule 56(f), S.C.R.C.P.*
4. "Summary judgment should be granted when plain, palpable and indisputable facts exist on which reasonable minds cannot differ." *Pee Dee Stores, Inc. v. Doyle*, 381 S.C. 234, 240, 672 S.E.2d 799, 802 (Ct.App.2009). In addition, it must be shown that further inquiry into the facts is not needed to clarify the application of law. *Folkens v. Hunt*, 290 S.C. 194, 348 S.E. (2d) 839 (Ct. App. 1986). "In determining whether any triable issues of fact exist, the evidence and all inferences must be viewed in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party." *Pee Dee*, 381 S.C. at 240, 672 S.E.2d at 802. "Thus, the appellate court reviews all ambiguities, conclusions, and inferences arising in and from the evidence in a light most favorable to the non-moving party." *Id.*; *Osborne v. Adams*, 346 S.C. 4, 7, 550 S.E.2d

- 319, 321 (2001). "All ambiguities, conclusions, and inferences arising from the evidence must be construed most strongly against the movant". *Baugus, supra*. Further, "[s]ummary judgment should not be granted even when there is no dispute as to evidentiary facts if there is dispute as to the conclusion to be drawn from those facts." *Gignilliat v. Gignilliat, Savitz & Bettis, L.L.P.*, 385 S.C. 452, 456, 684 S.E.2d 756, 758 (2009) (quoting *Brockbank*, 341 S.C. at 378, 534 S.E.2d at 692); *Gilliland v. Elmwood Properties*, 301 S.C. 295, 391 S.E.2d 577 (1990).
5. "It is an error of law for a court to decide a case on a ground not before it." *Griffin v. Capital Cash*, 310 S.C. 288, 294, 423 S.E.2d 143, 147 (Ct.App.1992); see *Friedberg v. Goudeau*, 279 S.C. 561, 562, 309 S.E.2d 758, 759 (1983) (reversing the grant of summary judgment because the ground for summary judgment was not properly before the trial court). A reversal is required when the trial court's ruling exceeds the limits and scope of the particular motion before it. *Skinner v. Skinner*, 257 S.C. 544, 550, 186 S.E.2d 523, 526 (1972).
 6. The doctrines of res judicata and collateral estoppel do not bar collateral attack of a judgment based on fraud. *Arnold v. Arnold*, 285 S.C. 296, 328 S.E.2d 924 (1985). (The complaint of a plaintiff "must be liberally construed in favor of the pleader and sustained if the facts alleged, and the inferences reasonably deducible therefrom, entitle plaintiffs to relief on *any theory* of the case, even though different from that on which they may have supposed themselves entitled to recover." (Emphasis added.) *Arnold, supra*; *Springfield v. Williams Plumbing Supply Co.*, 249 S.C. 130, 153 S.E.2d 184 (1967).
 7. An action for specific performance is one in equity. *Lewis v. Premium Inv. Corp.*, 351 S.C. 167, 170 n. 2, 568 S.E.2d 361, 362 n. 2 (2002); *Wright v. Trask*, 329 S.C. 170, 176, 263*263 495 S.E.2d 222, 225 (Ct.App.1997). In an action in equity, tried by the judge alone, without a reference, on appeal the appellate court has jurisdiction to find facts in accordance with its views of the preponderance of the evidence. *Townes Assocs., Ltd. v. City of Greenville*, 266 S.C. 81, 86, 221 S.E.2d 773, 775 (1976). "It is now well settled that this court has jurisdiction in appeals in equity cases to find the facts in accord with our view of the preponderance or greater weight of the evidence, in the absence of a verdict by a jury; and may reverse a factual finding by the trial court in such cases when the appellant satisfies this court that the finding is against the preponderance of the evidence." *Crowder v. Crowder*, 246 S.C. 299, 301, 143 S.E.2d 580, 581 (1965).
 8. In an action at law, on appeal of a case tried without a jury, the findings of fact of the judge will not be disturbed upon appeal unless found to be without evidence which reasonably supports the judge's findings. The rule is the same whether the judge's findings are made with or without, a reference. The

judge's findings are equivalent to a jury's findings in a law action. *Chapman v. Allstate Ins. Co.*, 263 S.C. 565, 211 S.E. (2d) 876 (1974).

9. Turning to the question of the determination of the existence of a fiduciary duty, this Court has said "[a] fiduciary relationship exists when one reposes special confidence in another, so that the latter, in equity and good conscience, is bound to act in good faith and with due regard to the interests of the one reposing confidence." *O'Shea v. Lesser*, 308 S.C. 10, 15, 416 S.E.2d 629, 631 (1992).
10. The appellate court applies the same standard of review as the circuit court in scrutinizing the application of Rule 12(b)(8), SCRCP. *Capital City Ins. Co. v. BP Staff, Inc.*, 382 S.C. 92, 99, 674 S.E.2d 524, 528 (Ct.App.2009). A defendant may seek dismissal of an action pursuant to Rule 12(b)(8) when another action is pending between the same parties for the same claim. In deciding whether the trial court properly granted the motion to dismiss, the appellate court must consider whether the complaint, viewed in the light most favorable to the plaintiff, states any valid claim for relief. *Gentry v. Yonce*, 337 S.C. 1, 522 S.E.2d 137 (1999); *Spence v. Spence*, 368 S.C. 105, 628 S.E.2d 869 (2006). "The trial court and this [C]ourt on appeal must presume all well pled facts to be true." *Morrow Crane Co. v. T.R. Tucker Constr. Co.*, 296 S.C. 427, 429, 373 S.E.2d 701, 702 (Ct.App. 1988). "[P]leadings in a case should be construed liberally so that substantial justice is done between the parties. Further, a judgment on the pleadings is considered to be a drastic procedure by our courts." *Russell v. City of Columbia*, 305 S.C. 86, 89, 406 S.E.2d 338, 339 (1991) (citation omitted). The court should not dismiss the complaint merely because there exists doubt that the plaintiff will prevail in the action. *Doe*, 373 S.C. at 395, 645 S.E.2d at 248.

ARGUMENTS

1. The Order of November 6, 2014 is in-part VOID

The Order of Nov. 6, 2014 is VOID in-part that it fails on its face, fails all rules, statutes and precedents of law or equity, fails due to lack of jurisdiction or inherent power to adjudicate specific performance in favor of the Dudeks and/or that it was procured by fraud, and is a violation of public policy (Order, Spec. Perf., Nov. 6, 2014 Civil Case No. 2013-CP-00183 herein ref. "O1"); (See Appellate Case No. 2017-001393). "A judgment obtained by fraud may, however, be void under some circumstances, and subject to collateral attack, as where such fraud appears on the face of the record or goes to the method of acquiring jurisdiction. Likewise, the judgment may be attacked collaterally where fraud had been practiced

in the very act of obtaining the judgment, or on the party against whom the judgment was rendered, so as to prevent him from having a fair opportunity to present his case," (Emphasis added.) 49 C.J.S. Judgments § 434 Fraud, Collusion, or Perjury, p. 859

The ruling ordering specific performance in favor of the Dudeks is not supported by the record or any [valid] evidence in the record, and maybe most importantly, is contrary to the precedents of not only the South Carolina Courts but to all state courts and the U.S. Supreme Court. The Dudeks failed to meet the strict conditions, precedents, laws, rules or statutes of equity conditional to their *ability* to compel specific performance, notwithstanding their attorney (Respondent Collins) suborned perjury, withheld critically material documentation and facts that directly affected the ability of its clients to compel, and the lower court's jurisdiction or inherent power to adjudicate, specific performance. Further, he also falsified or assisted in the falsification of financial documents, and conspired to deceive the court and all opposing parties to the case. Such actions are extrinsic fraud, or rise to the level of such.

A void judgment is one that is void on face of judgment roll, **Elliot v. Piersol*, 1 Pet. 328, 340, 26 U.S. 328, 340 (1828): * Under Federal law which is applicable to all states, the U.S. Supreme Court stated that if a court is "without authority, its judgments and orders are regarded as nullities." *Cockett Oil Co. v. Effie*, 374 S.W.2d 154 (Mo.App. 1964). Decision is void on the face of the judgment roll when from four corners of that roll, it may be determined that at least one of three elements of jurisdiction was absent: (1) jurisdiction over parties, (2) jurisdiction over subject matter, or (3) jurisdictional power to pronounce particular judgment that was rendered, *B & C Investments, INC. v. F & M Nat. Bank & Trust*, 903 P.2d 339 (Okla.App.Div 3, 1995). Void order may be attacked, either directly or collaterally, at any time. They are not "voidable", but simply "void"; and form no bar to a recovery sought, even prior to a reversal in opposition to them. They constitute no justification; and all persons concerned in executing such judgments or sentences, are considered, in law, as trespassers." *Elliot v. Piersol, supra*; Black's Law Dictionary, Sixth Edition, page 1574: Void judgment. One which has no legal force or effect, invalidity of which may be asserted by any person whose rights are affected at any time and at any place directly or collaterally.

Reynolds v. Volunteer State Life Ins. Co., Tex.Civ.App., 80 S.W.2d 1087, 1092. One which from its inception is and forever continues to be absolutely null, without legal efficacy, ineffectual to bind parties or support a right, of no legal force and effect whatever, and incapable of confirmation, ratification, or enforcement in any manner or to any degree.

In order to adjudicate specific performance, a court of equity *must* find: (1) there is clear evidence of a valid agreement; (2) the agreement had been partly carried into execution on one side with the approbation of the other; and (3) the party who comes to compel performance has performed his or her part, or has been and remains able and willing to perform his or her part of the contract. *Ingram*, 340 S.C. at 106, 531 S.E.2d at 291; *Campbell v. Carr*, 361 S.C. 258, 263-64, 603 S.E.2d 625, 627-28 (Ct. App. 2004)¹; *Gibson v. Hryzikos*, 293 S.C. 8, 358 S.E.2d 173 (Ct.App.1987) (citing *Thomson v. Scott*, 6 S.C. Eq. (1 McCord Eq.) 32 (1825)) (O1). At a minimum, the Dudeks must demonstrate that they were ready and willing to perform their part of the contract (i.e. willing to tender the purchase price) on November 30, 2012, the date the sales contract expired, or on January 15, 2013, the date they brought the action for specific performance. The record indicates that the Dudeks were not in a position to pay the Ferros the purchase price for the property in question on either date, specifically--and at their own hand-- were refused or denied lending because they waited until their sales contract expired before making initial application for financing, then failed to possess or produce a valid and negotiable sales contract to complete their mortgage application, a critical failure that was not remedied. Consequently, the lower court had no inherent power or jurisdiction to adjudicate specific performance in favor of the Respondents Dudek.

Here, equity does not favor the granting of specific performance as a matter of law or of sound judicial discretion. The Supreme Court relies on the equity maxim: "He who seeks equity must do equity." *Norton v. Matthews*, 249 S.C. 71, 152 S.E.2d 680 (1967). By law, the Respondents Dudek failed to 'do

¹ Supra, Order for Specific Performance

equity', therefore had no ability or right to seek specific performance, and the lower court had not the judicial discretion to award 'equity' to the Dudeks.

Further, the Respondent(s) provided false evidence to demonstrate they were ready, able and willing to close escrow or tender payment per their time is of the essence sales contract or specific performance. The Respondents Dudek testified and presented false evidence and forged financial documents to show they had secured financing and performed all conditions of their sales contract and were ready, able and willing to close per specific performance but that a sellers breach precedent to their performance of their condition(s) prevented them from doing so²; Respondent(s) Williams or First Federal (herein "FF") (lender) testified and presented false evidence and forged financial documents claiming their clients, the Dudeks, had secured financing per their sales contract or in a timely manner. They also presented at trial a "false promise³" they were extending the Dudeks mortgage credit for the purchase of the property. Respondent(s) Nicholson, Scarafile and Carolina One ("C1") represented its clients had performed their sales contract and were ready, able and willing to close but that the sellers prevented a closing, when in actuality the Dudeks had neither completed their mortgage application nor could obtain lending, all at their own hand (Complaint - Fraud, Morphew v. Dudeks, et al. Aug. 24, 2016 herein "COMP43"); (DL30); (Email Scarafile, Dec. 18, 2012 herein "ES47"); (See Appellate Case No. 2017-001393).

When the sellers, Defendants Ferro, discovered *true and valid* documentation contrary to the Respondent(s) evidence and testimony at trial, and presented such evidence as their closing statements in a Petition to the court in their case, the trial court should have dismissed the Dudeks claim for specific performance for want of jurisdiction (FP6). Instead, the Master in Equity chose to disregard the closing statements of the pro se party and 'not consider' the newly discovered and critically material evidence

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