THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM DORCHESTER COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Maite Murphy, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2018-002185
Case No. 2016-CP-26-01706

RECEIVED
Jun 25 2020
SC Court of Appeals

Molly Morphew.....Appellant,

v.

Stephen Dudek, Doreen Cross, David Collins, Allison Williams, First Federal, Michael Scarafite,
Susan Nicholson, Carolina One Real Estate, Carrie Boyer, Woody Law Firm.....Respondents.

INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS
CARRIE BOYER AND WOODY LAW FIRM

COLLINS & LACY, P.C.

AMY L. NEUSCHAFER, ESQUIRE
SC Bar No. 73922

aneuschafer@collinsandlacy.com

LAURA R. BAER, ESQUIRE

SC Bar No. 101076

lbaer@collinsandlacy.com

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

ARGUMENT

I. The Circuit Court’s Dismissal of Several Claims Pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6) Was Proper.

Respondents Boyer and Wooddy Law Firm moved to dismiss all claims alleged in the Complaint pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6), SCRPC on the grounds that Appellant failed to state a claim upon which relief could be granted. (Boyer/Wooddy MTD & Memo in Support). The Circuit Court granted this motion in part, dismissing the Second Cause of Action, identified as “Perjury;” Sixth Cause of Action, denominated as “Violation ABA Rules of Professional Conduct;” Twelfth Cause of Action, denominated as “Fraud – Untrue assertion of fact [or equivalent]; Assertion made with knowledge of falsity and intent to deceive;” and Sixteenth Cause of Action, denominated as “Obstruction of Justice; SC Rules of Professional Conduct Rule 1.4(a)(4), Rule 3.4(a), Rule 3.4(d).” (Amended Order on Boyer/Wooddy’s MTD).

On appeal, Appellant’s Brief contains argument only on the Twelfth Cause of Action, denominated as “Fraud – Untrue assertion of fact [or equivalent]; Assertion made with knowledge of falsity and intent to deceive.” (App. Brief p. 45). Accordingly, Appellant has abandoned her appeal with regard to the Second Cause of Action—“Perjury;” Sixth Cause of Action—“Violation ABA Rules of Professional Conduct;” and Sixteenth Cause of Action—“Obstruction of Justice; SC Rules of Professional Conduct Rule 1.4(a)(4), Rule 3.4(a), Rule 3.4(d).” See Rule

208(b)(1)(B), SCACR (ordinarily no point will be considered on appeal which is not set forth in the statement of issues on appeal); Rule 211(b), SCACR (all issues must be presented and argued in the initial brief and new issues cannot be raised in the final briefs); Glasscock, Inc. v. U.S. Fidelity and Guar. Co., 348 S.C. 76, 81, 557 S.E.2d 689, 691 (Ct. App. 2001) (“South Carolina law clearly states that short, conclusory statements made without supporting authority are deemed abandoned on appeal and therefore not presented for review.”); State v. Colf, 332 S.C. 313, 504 S.E.2d 360 (Ct. App. 1998) (deeming abandoned a conclusory, two-paragraph argument that cited no authority other than an evidentiary rule); Fields v. Melrose Ltd. P’ship, 312 S.C. 102, 106, 439 S.E.2d 283, 285 (Ct. App. 1993) (holding that failure to provide argument or supporting authority for an issue renders it abandoned).

The circuit court properly dismissed the claim with which Appellant takes issue on appeal—Twelfth Cause of Action, denominated as “Fraud – Untrue assertion of fact [or equivalent]; Assertion made with knowledge of falsity and intent to deceive;” Rule 8(a), SCRCR states that a complaint must contain a “short and plain statement of the facts showing the pleader is entitled to relief.” See South Carolina Nat’l Bank v. Joyner, 289 S.C. 382, 346 S.E.2d 329 (Ct. App. 1986) (“[T]he principal purpose of pleadings is to inform the pleader’s adversary of legal and factual positions which he will be required to meet on trial.”). “This requires a litigant to plead the ultimate facts which will be proved at trial....” Clark v. Clark, 293 S.C. 415, 416, 361 S.E.2d 328, 328 (1987); see Stroud v. Riddle, 260 S.C. 99, 194 S.E.2d 235 (1973) (“The ultimate facts required to be stated in a pleading are those which the evidence upon the trial will prove....”); Watts v. Metro Sec. Agency, 346 S.C. 235, 240, 550 S.E.2d 869, 871 (Ct. App. 2001) (“Ultimate facts fall somewhere between the verbosity of evidentiary facts and the sparsity of ‘legal conclusions.’”).

In her Complaint, Appellant's Twelfth Cause of Action generally alleges all Respondents concealed and failed disclose or volunteer information during the pendency of the Specific Performance Litigation. (Compl. pp. 47-50). The circuit court construed this cause of action as alleging a claim for perjury rather than fraud. (Amd. Order on Boyer/Wooddy's MTD, p. 10). Because the circuit court had dismissed Appellant's separate perjury cause of action, it likewise dismissed the duplicative Twelfth Cause of Action. (Amd. Order on Boyer/Wooddy's MTD, pp. 6-7). In dismissing the perjury claim, the circuit court reasoned that in South Carolina, perjury may be a criminal offense, but it is not a civil cause of action. (Id.).

In her Brief, Appellant appears to contend the circuit court too narrowly construed the allegations of her Twelfth Cause of Action to encompass only alleged misrepresentations made by Respondents during the course of discovery and trial in the Specific Performance Litigation. She further contends that even when construed as a claim for perjury, perjury is synonymous with fraud. (App. Br. pp. 45-46).

As an initial matter, none of Appellant's arguments on this issue directly address Respondents Boyer and Wooddy Law Firm, but are instead directed at other Respondents. Accordingly, this ground has been abandoned on appeal as to Respondents Boyer and Wooddy Law Firm. See R & G Const., Inc. v. Lowcountry Regional Transp. Auth., 343 S.C. 424, 540 S.E.2d 113 (Ct. App. 2000) (declaring an issue is deemed abandoned if argument in appellate brief is only conclusory). Regardless, this argument fails on the merits. To the extent the Twelfth Cause of Action is construed as a claim for perjury, no such civil action exists. See S.C. Code Ann. § 16-9-10 (elements of crime of perjury); Collins v. Doe, 343 S.C. 119, 124, 539 S.E.2d 62, 64 (Ct. App. 2000), rev'd on other grounds, 352 S.C. 462, 574 S.E.2d 739 (2002) (perjury is a criminal charge). Moreover, the Complaint makes it clear that Respondents Boyer and Wooddy Law Firm

were not involved in the Specific Performance Litigation. Accordingly, they could not have given false testimony or evidence at the deposition or trial.

To the extent the Twelfth Cause of Action is construed as a claim for fraud, dismissal was appropriate because the Complaint fails to alleged the element of fraud with particularity. To recover in an action for fraud, the plaintiff must establish the following elements by clear, cogent, and convincing evidence: “(1) a representation; (2) its falsity; (3) its materiality; (4) either knowledge of its falsity or a reckless disregard of its truth or falsity; (5) intent that the representation be acted upon; (6) the hearer’s ignorance of its falsity; (7) the hearer’s reliance on its truth; (8) the hearer’s right to rely thereon; and (9) the hearer’s consequent and proximate injury.” M.B. Kahn. Const. Co., Inc. v. South Carolina Nat’l Bank of Charleston, 275 S.C. 381, 384, 271 S.E.2d 414, 415 (1980). See also Turner v. Milliman, 392 S.C. 116, 122, 708 S.E.2d 766, 769 (2011). Failure to establish any of these elements is fatal to recovery. Id. See also O’Shields v. Southern Fountain Mobile Homes, Inc., 262 S.C. 276, 204 S.E.2d 50 (1974). In reference to Respondent Woody Law Firm, Plaintiff simply asserts that it sent a letter to Sellers stating that it would be handling the closing. (Complaint, ¶ 171). Regarding Respondent Boyer, Plaintiff asserts that she “required proof [from the sellers] that the [minor] damages stated in the CL-100 have been repaired.” (Complaint, ¶ 172). However, to the extent these allegations can be construed to constitute representations, Appellant fails to plead facts demonstrating she relied on these alleged representations and had a right to rely on them. It is undisputed that neither of these statements were directed to Appellant, as she was not a party to the real estate transaction between Respondents Dudek and Cross and the Sellers. Moreover, Appellant fails to demonstrate these alleged statements were false, material in any way, that Respondents Boyer or Woody Law Firm knew the statements were false or acted with reckless disregard, or that the hearer of these

statements was ignorant to their falsity. Finally, Appellant has failed to allege facts sufficient to establish she has suffered damages as a proximate cause of the alleged fraud. The facts alleged in the Complaint demonstrate Appellant's real estate transaction with the Sellers was thwarted not by any actions of Respondents Boyer and Woody Law Firm, but because of a dispute with Sellers and Respondents Dudek and Cross over the enforceability of the two contracts for the purchase of the property. Therefore, the circuit court properly dismissed the Twelfth Cause of Action on the grounds that it failed to state a claim upon which relief could be granted.

II. The Circuit Court Properly Granted Respondents' Motion for Summary Judgment.

After this case had been pending for almost two years, Respondents Boyer and Woody Law Firm moved for summary judgment on the claims that had not previously been dismissed. The remaining claims were the First Cause of Action—"Fraud, Extrinsic Fraud, and Fraud on the Court;" the Seventh Cause of Action—"Bad Faith and Unfair Dealings and/or Accompanied by Fraudulent Action, Conspiracy to Defraud;" the Seventeenth Cause of Action—"Intentional Infliction of Emotional Distress;" and the Eighteenth Cause of Action—"Tortious Interference with Existing Contractual Relations." (Boyer/Woody MSJ, Amended MSJ & Memo in Support). The circuit court properly granted summary judgment in favor of Respondents Boyer and Woody Law Firm on each of these causes of action.

a. The prior denial of Respondents' motion to dismiss these claims did not preclude the subsequent grant of summary judgment.

Appellant contends the circuit court improperly granted summary judgment on claims that had previously been denied dismissal via Respondents' motions to dismiss pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6). (App. Brief pp. 22-23). This argument is without merit. Initially, a motion to dismiss and a motion for summary judgment are evaluated pursuant to different standards. A Rule 12(b)(6)

motion tests only the sufficiency of the pleadings. A summary judgment motion evaluates the existence of a genuine issue of material fact in the evidence adduced outside the pleadings. As a result, it is axiomatic that the denial of a motion to dismiss does not establish the law of the case and issues raised in the motion can be raised again at a later stage in the case. McLendon v. S.C. Dept. of Highways and Pub. Transp., 313 S.C. 525, 443 S.E.2d 539 (1994). Finally, this argument was not raised to or ruled upon by the circuit court and is therefore not preserved for appellate review. See Elam v. South Carolina Dep't of Transp., 361 S.C. 9, 23, 602 S.E.2d 772, 779-780 (2004) (holding that issues and arguments are preserved for appellate review only when they are raised to and ruled on by the lower court).

b. The case was ripe for summary judgment.

Appellant asserts for the first time on appeal that summary judgment was premature because she had three pending motions to compel at the time of the summary judgment hearing. (App. Brief pp. 23-25). These motions were heard at the same time as Respondents' various motions for summary judgment. (Oct. 1, 2018 Transcript). Appellant did not argue to the circuit court that the discovery motions rendered summary judgment premature. Accordingly, this issue is not preserved for appellate review. Elam, 361 S.C. 9, 23, 602 S.E.2d 772.

Regardless, none of Appellants' pending discovery motions concerned Respondents Boyer and Woody Law Firm. At the October 2018 hearing, Appellant had a pending Motion to Compel against Respondent Cross and Motion to Deem Admissions Admitted against Respondents Cross and First Federal. (MTC; Mtns to Deem Admitted). Neither these motions or the discovery sought had a bearing on Appellant's allegations against Respondents Boyer and Woody Law Firm, nor does Appellant contend in her Brief that they did. Finally, a party claiming summary judgment is premature because she has not been provided a full and fair opportunity to complete discovery

must advance a good reason why the time was insufficient under the facts of the case and why further discovery would uncover additional relevant evidence and create a genuine issue of material fact. Guinan v. Tenet Healthsystems of Hilton Head, Inc., 383 S.C. 48, 677 S.E.2d 32 (Ct. App. 2009). Appellant only generally contends the discovery may “reveal any liability.” (App. Brief. P. 24). Accordingly, Appellant failed to make the required showing regarding the need for additional discovery before the circuit court and on appeal. In short, the subject action was ripe for summary judgment when it was heard by Judge Murphy in October 2018.

c. No genuine issue of material fact exists with regard to the First Cause of Action—“Fraud, Extrinsic Fraud, and Fraud on the Court.”

The circuit court held summary judgment was warranted on the First Cause of Action—“Fraud, Extrinsic Fraud, and Fraud on the Court” because the evidence adduced by Appellant failed to establish Respondents Boyer and Woody Law Firm had the requisite intent to commit fraud upon the court and the existence of any representations made to the court.⁵ (Order on Boyer/Woody’s MSJ, p. 4). Appellant’s argument on this issue again consists primarily of an attack on Judge Chellis’ order denying her specific performance. Appellant further contends that because Respondents Dudek and Cross did not have an enforceable contract, Respondents Boyer and Woody Law Firm were not justified in the actions taken in preparation for Respondents Dudek and Cross’ anticipated closing and that these actions were instead take to create a façade that a closing was expected and to deceive the Sellers, Appellant, and the court. (App. Brief. pp. 30-34.).

⁵ The allegations set forth in the Complaint concerning this cause of action generically mention “Defendant(s)” and specifically reference other parties to this action, but contain no specific allegations against Respondents Woody Law Firm or Boyer. (Compl., ¶¶74-91). The crux of these allegations appears to be Appellant’s belief that some or all Respondents misrepresented matters to the court in the Specific Performance Litigation.

The South Carolina Supreme Court has described fraud upon the court as “the species of fraud which does, or attempts to subvert the integrity of the Court itself, or is a fraud perpetrated by officers of the court so that judicial machinery cannot perform in the usual manner its impartial task of adjudging cases that are presented for adjudication.” Chewning v. Ford Motor Co., 354 S.C. 72, 78, 579 S.E.2d 605, 608 (2003) (quoting Evans v. Gunter, 294 S.C. 525, 529, 366 S.E.2d 44, 46 (Ct. App. 1998)). Noting that intent is a necessary element of fraud upon the court, the Supreme Court quoted with approval the following explanation emanating from the Tenth Circuit:

. . . “[F]raud upon the court,” whatever else it embodies, requires a showing that one has acted with an intent to deceive or defraud the court. A proper balance between the interests of finality on the one hand and allowing relief due to inequitable conduct on the other makes it essential that there be a showing on conscious wrongdoing—what can properly be characterized as a deliberate scheme to defraud—before relief from final judgment is appropriate. . . Thus, when there is no intent to deceive, the fact that misrepresentations were made to a court is not of itself sufficient basis for setting aside a judgment for “fraud on the court.”

Id. at 78-79, 579 S.E.2d at 608-09 (quoting United States v. Buck, 281 F.3d 1336, 1342 (10th Cir. 2002)). Moreover, “[g]enerally speaking, only the most egregious misconduct, such as bribery of a judge or members of the jury, or fabrication of evidence by a party in which an attorney is implicated will constitute fraud on the court. Less egregious conduct, such as nondisclosure to the court of facts allegedly pertinent to the matter before it, will not ordinarily rise to the level of fraud on the court.” Id.

Furthermore, the fraud alleged must be extrinsic rather than intrinsic. Extrinsic fraud is “fraud that induces a person not to present a case or deprives a person of the opportunity to be heard.” Hilton Head Ctr. of South Carolina v. Pub. Serv. Comm., 294 S.C. 9, 11, 362 S.E.2d 176, 177 (1987). On the other hand, intrinsic fraud is fraud which was presented and considered in the trial. Hagy v. Pruitt, 39 S.C. 425, 529 S.E.2d 714 (2000). To set aside a judgment, extrinsic fraud must be proven by clear and convincing evidence. Id. at 432 n. 8, 529 S.E.2d at 718 n. 8.

As an initial matter, Respondents Boyer and Woody Law Firm were not parties to Specific Performance Litigation, were not called to provide and did not give any testimony in that suit, and were not asked and did not provide any documentary evidence. Given these Respondents complete and total lack of involvement in the underlying suit, there is no conceivable avenue for them to have misled the court, much less to have done so intentionally. Appellant's First of Cause of Action fails for this reason alone.

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